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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT JUN 1 1 ?025

FoR THE DISTRICT oF NEw MEXICO MIICHEL

6ftflfrrens
LINITED STATES OF AMERICA,

vs.

DEWAYNE GEORGE,

caseNo. e6-n%Iuo

Defendant.

PLEA AGREEMENT

Pursuant to Rule 11, Fed. R. Crim. P., the parties notify the Court of the following

agreement between the United States of America, by the United States Attorney for the District

of New Mexico, and the Defendant, Dewayne Larry George with the advice and counsel of his

attorney, Peter J. Eicker. This agreement is limited to the United States Attorney's Office for the

District of New Mexico and does not bind any other federal, state, or local agencies or

prosecuting authorities.

REPRESENTATION BY COUNSEL

1. The Defendant understands the Defendant's right to be represented by an attorney

and is so represented. The Defendant has thoroughly reviewed all aspects of this case with the

Defendant's attorney and is fully satisfied with that attorney's legal representation.

RIGHTS OF THE DEFENDANT

2. The Defendant further understands the Defendant's rights:

a. to be prosecuted by indictment;

b. to plead not guilty, or having already so pleaded, to persist in that plea;
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c. to have a trial by jury; and

d. at atrial

i. to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses,

ii. to be protected from compelled self-incrimination,

iii. to testify and present evidence on the Defendant's own behalf, and

iv. to compel the affendance of witnesses for the defense.

WAIVER OF RIGHTS AIID PLEA OF GUILTY

3. The Defendant agrees to waive these rights and to plead guilty to Count 1 of the

information, charging a violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 3, that being Accessory After the Fact, Count 2

of the information, charging a violation of l8 U.S.C. $$ 1153 and 113(a)(3), that being Assault

with a Dangerous Weapon with Intent to do Bodily Harm in Indian Country, and Count 3 of the

information, charging a violation of 18 U.S.C. $ 92a(c)(1)(AXiiD, Using and Carrying a Firearm

During and in Relation to a Crime of Violence and Discharging Said Firearm.

SENTENCING

4. The Defendant understands that the maximum penalty provided by law for Count

I is:

a. imprisonment for a period of not more than 15 years;

b. a fine not to exceed the greater of $125,000 or twice the pecuniary gain to the

Defendant or pecuniary loss to the victim;

c. a term of supervised release of not more than 3 years to follow any term of

imprisonment. (If the Defendant serves a term of imprisonment, is then

released on supervised release, and violates the conditions ofsupervised

release, the Defendant's supervised release could be revoked - even on the
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2 is:

3 is:

last day of the term - and the Defendant could then be returned to another

period ofincarceration and a new term ofsupervised release.);

d. a mandatory special penalty assessment of $100.00; and

e. restitution as may be ordered by the Court.

5. The Defendant understands that the maximum penalty provided by law for Count

a. imprisonment for a period of not more than l0 years;

b. a fine not to exceed the greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain to the

Defendant or pecuniary loss to the victim;

c. a term of supervised release of not more than 3 years to follow any term of

imprisonment. (If the Defendant serves a term of imprisonment, is then

released on supervised release, and violates the conditions ofsupervised

release, the Defendant's supervised release could be revoked - even on the

last day of the term - and the Defendant could then be retumed to another

period ofincarceration and a new term ofsupervised release.);

d. a mandatory special penalty assessment of $ 100.00; and

e. restitution as may be ordered by the Court.

6. The Defendant understands that the maximum penalty provided by law for Count

a. imprisonment for a period of not less than 10 consecutive years up to life;

b. a fine not to exceed the greater of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain to the

Defendant or pecuniary loss to the victim;
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a teffn of supervised release of not more than 3 years to follow any term of

imprisonment. (If the Defendant serves a term of imprisonment, is then

released on supervised release, and violates the conditions ofsupervised

release, the Defendant's supervised release could be revoked - even on the

last day of the term - and the Defendant could then be returned to another

period of incarceration and a new term of supervised release.);

a mandatory special penalty assessment of $ 100.00; and

restitution as may be ordered by the Court.

7. The parties recognize that the federal sentencing guidelines are advisory and that

the Court is required to consider them in determining the sentence it imposes. The Defendant

further recognizes that while the Defendant's attorney may have made a prediction or estimate of

the sentence that the Court may impose, the Defendant understands that the Court is not bound

by any such estimate or prediction.

ELEMENTS OF THE OFFENSE

8. If this matter proceeded to trial, the Defendant understands that the United States

would be required to prove, beyond a reasonable doubt, the following elements for violations of

the charges listed below:

Count I : 18 U.S.C. I 3. that being Accessorv after the Fact:

d.

e.

First:

Second:

Third:

The Defendant knew someone else had already
committed an underlying offense against the United
States;

The Defendant then helped that person avoid being
arrested, prosecuted or punished; and

The Defendant did so with the intent to help that person

avoid being arrested, prosecuted or punished.
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Count 2: l8 U.S.C. 8Q 1153. 113(aX3.). that being Assault with a Dangerous Weapon
with Intent to do Bodily Harm in Indian Country:

First: The defendant assaulted the victim;

Second: The assault was done with the use of a dangerous
weapon;

Third: The assault was done with the intent to commit bodily
harm;

Fourth: The defendant was Indian;

Fifth: The assault occurred within Indian Country.

Count 3: 18 U.S.C. $ 924(cX1)(AXiii). that being Using and Carr.ving a Firearm During
and in Relation to a Crime of Violence and Dischargine Said Firearm:

First: The defendant committed the crime of Assault with a

Dangerous Weapon with Intent to do Bodily Harm in
Indian Country as charged in Count 2 of the
information, which is a crime of violence; and

Second: The defendant used, carried, and discharged a firearm
during and in relation to the crime of assault with a

dangerous weapon with intent to do bodily harm.

DEFENDANT'S ADMISSION OF FACTS

9. By my signature on this plea agreement, I am acknowledging that I am pleading

guilty because I am, in fact, guilty of the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty. I recognize

and accept responsibility for my criminal conduct. Moreover, in pleading guilty, I acknowledge

that if I chose to go to trial instead of entering this plea, the United States could prove facts

sufficient to establish my guilt of the offense(s) to which I am pleading guilty beyond a

reasonable doubt, including any facts alleged in the information that increase the statutory

minimum or maximum penalties. I specifically admit the following facts related to the charges

against me, and declare under penalty of perjury that all of these facts are true and correct:
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On April 24,2024,I was with Brittania Navaho and Rydell Happy in Gallup' New

Mexico. We went to the Southwest Jewelry Pawn Shop pawn shop in Gallup where

Navaho purchased a Heritage Rough Rider black .22 caliber revolver and .22

caliber ammunition at the request of Happy, who is a convicted felon and thus

prohibited from possessing firearms.

After purchasing the firearm, Navaho, Huppy, and I picked up John Doe 1. We

proceeded to drive around the Gallup area.

Later that same day, Happy, John Doe 1, Navaho, and I were driving on U.S.

Highway 491 in between Gallup, NM, and Shiprock, NM. Happy was driving, John

Doe l was in the front passenger seat, Navaho was in the rear driver's-side seat, and

I was in the rear passenger-side seat. We saw a vehicle parked on the side of the

road near milepost 40, which is within the exterior boundaries of the Navajo Nation,

which I agree is Indian Country under federal law. Three individuals were inside

the vehicle while one woman stood outside the vehicle. Happy fired one shot into the

air with the Heritage .22 caliber revolver, which caused the woman to run back to

the vehicle, get in, and start to drive away. When the vehicle began driving on the

highway, Happy followed them. Happy handed John Doe 1 the gun. John Doe 1

began to fire shots at the vehicle, then handed me the gun because he did not know

how to reload it. I took the gun, reloaded it, and fired at the vehicle approximately

three to four times. Happy and I took turns firing the gun at the vehicle. Although I

intended to do bodily harm, none of the occupants were injured, though officers
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later observed three bullet holes in the trunk lid, one bullet hole in the driver's-side

door and window, and one bullet hole in the left rear passenger window.

At some point after we stopped following and shooting at the vehicle on the

highway, we were driving when Happy and John Doe L got into an argument. I then

drove us out into the desert near Shiprock, NM, and drove to the top of a ridge. At

that point, Happy again got into an argument with John Doe 1. Happy then told us

all to get out of the vehicle. Once we were out of the vehicle, Happy, pointing the

revolver at John Doe 1, told John Doe 1 to get on his knees. John Doe I started

begging Happy not to kill him. Huppy then pulled the trigger multiple times but the

revolver clicked, not firing a bullet. Happy kept pulling the trigger, laughing, and

the gun eventually went off, shooting John Doe 1 in the head, killing John Doe 1.

Happy then retrieved a baseball bat from the back seat of the vehicle. Happy began

to hit John Doe 1 with the bat, approximately four times. Then, at Happy's request,

I helped Happy drag John Doe 1's body over a cliff in an attempt to conceal the

body. We concealed the body with the intent to avoid being arrested, prosecuted, or

punished for the crime. We then got back in the vehicle and drove away before later

being apprehended by law enforcement.

I am an enrolled member of the Navajo Nation and am thus an Indian under

federal law. Navaho and Happy are also enrolled members of the Navajo Nation and

are thus Indians under federal law.

10. By signing this agreement, the Defendant admits that there is a factual basis for

element of the crime(s) to which the Defendant is pleading guilty and agrees to affirm theeach
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facts set forth above during the plea colloquy. The Defendant agrees that the Court may rely

any of these facts, as well as facts in the presentence report, to determine the Defendant's

sentence, including, but not limited to, the advisory guideline offense level.

11.

follows:

RECOMMENDATIONS

Pursuant to Rule 1l(cX1)(B), the United States and the Defendant recommend as

As of the date of this agreement, the Defendant has clearly demonstrated a

recognition and affirmative acceptance of personal responsibility for the

Defendant's criminal conduct. Consequently, pursuant to U.S.S.G. $

3E1.1(a), so long as the Defendant continues to accept responsibility for the

Defendant's criminal conduct, the Defendant is entitled to a reduction of two

levels from the base offense level as calculated under the sentencing

guidelines, and if applicable, a reduction of an additional offense level

pursuant to U.S.S.G. $ 3E1.1(b).

In the case that Defendant's two counts are sentenced separately, the parties

recommend that the sentences for Count 1 and Count 2 will run concurently.

The Defendant understands that the above recommendations are not binding

on the Court and that whether the Court accepts these recommendations is a

matter solely within the discretion of the Court after it has reviewed the

presentence report. Further, the Defendant understands that the Court may

choose to vary from the advisory guideline sentence. If the Court does not

accept any one or more of the above recommendations and reaches an

advisory guideline sentence different than expected by the Defendant, or if the

a.

b.
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Court varies from the advisory guideline range, the Defendant will not seek to

withdraw the Defendant's plea of guilty. In other words, regardless of any of

the parties' recommendations, the Defendant's final sentence is solely within

the discretion of the Court.

12. Apart from the recommendations set forth in this plea agreement, the United

States and the Defendant reserve their rights to assert any position or argument with respect to

the sentence to be imposed, including but not limited to the applicability of particular sentencing

guidelines, adjustments under the guidelines, departures or variances from the guidelines, and the

application of factors in 18 U.S.C. $ 3553(a).

1 3. Regardless of any other provision in this agreement, the United States reserves the

right to provide to the United States Pretrial Services and Probation Office and to the Court any

information the United States believes may be helpful to the Court, including but not limited to

information about the recommendations contained in this agreement and any relevant conduct

underU.S.S.G. $ 1B1.3.

DEFENDANT' S ADDITIONAL AGREEMENT

14. The Defendant understands the Defendant's obligation to provide the United

States Pretrial Services and Probation Office with truthful, accurate, and complete information.

The Defendant represents that the Defendant has complied with and will continue to comply with

this obligation.

15. The Defendant agrees that any financial records and information provided by the

Defendant to the Probation Office, before or after sentencing, may be disclosed to the United

States Attomey's Office for use in the collection of any unpaid financial obligation.
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16. The Defendant agrees that, upon the Defendant's signing of this plea agreement,

the facts that the Defendant has admitted under this plea agreement as set forth above, as well as

any facts to which the Defendant admits in open court at the Defendant's plea hearing, shall be

admissible against the Defendant under Federal Rule of Evidence 801(d)(2XA) in any

subsequent proceeding, including a criminal trial, and the Defendant expressly waives the

Defendant's rights under Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 1 1 (f) and Federal Rule of Evidence

410 with regard to the facts the Defendant admits in conjunction with this plea agreement.

17. By signing this plea agreement, the Defendant waives the right to withdraw the

Defendant's plea of guilty pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(d) unless (1) the

court rejects the plea agreement pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 11(c)(5) or (2)

the Defendant can show a fair and just reason as those terms are used in Rule 1 1(d)(2)(B) for

requesting the withdrawal. Furthermore, the Defendant understands that if the court rejects the

plea agreement, whether or not the Defendant withdraws the guilty plea, the United States is

relieved of any obligation it had under the agreement and the Defendant shall be subject to

prosecution for any federal, state, or local crime(s) which this agreement otherwise anticipated

would be dismissed or not prosecuted.

18. The Defendant will not willfully fail to appear for any court appearance in this

matter, nor willfully fail to surrender as ordered for service of any sentence.

19. The Defendant agrees not to engage in conduct that would constitute a new

crime. Offenses that would be excluded for sentencing purposes under U.S.S.G. $ 4A1 .2(c) are

not within the scope of this paragraph's agreement.

20. Defendant agrees not to engage in conduct that would constitute obstructing or

impeding the administration ofjustice under U.S.S.G. $ 3C 1.1 .

t0
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WAIVER OF APPEAL AND POST-CONVICTION RIGHTS

21. The Defendant is aware that28 U.S.C. $ 1291 and 18 U.S.C. $ 3742 afford the

right to appeal a conviction and the sentence imposed. Acknowledging that, the Defendant

knowingly waives the right to appeal the Defendant's conviction(s) and sentence, as well as any

order of restitution entered by the Court. This waiver extends to any challenge to the manner in

which the sentence was determined or imposed, including the district court's authority to make

findings supporting the sentence.

22. The Defendant also waives the right to appeal any sentence imposed below or

within the guideline range upon a revocation of supervised release in this cause number but may

nonetheless appeal the determination of the revocation guideline range.

23. The Defendant also waives the right to appeal the denial of any motion filed under

18 U.S.C. $ 3582(c) where such denial rests upon the court's determination that a sentence

reduction is not warranted under the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. $ 3553(a).

24. In addition, the Defendant agrees to waive any collateral attack to the Defendant's

conviction(s) and any sentence, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. $$ 2241, 2255, or any other extraordinary

writ, except on the issue of defense counsel's ineffective assistance.

GOVERNMENT' S ADDITIONAL AGREEMENT

25. Provided that the Defendant fulfills the Defendant's obligations as set out above,

the United States agrees that:

a. The United States will not bring additional criminal charges against the

Defendant arising out of the facts forming the basis of the present information.

l1
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VOLUNTARY PLEA

26. The Defendant agrees and represents that this plea of guilty is freely and

voluntarily made and is not the result of force, threats, or promises (other than the promises set

forth in this agreement and any addenda). There have been no promises from anyone as to what

sentence the Court will impose. The Defendant also represents that the Defendant is pleading

guilty because the Defendant is in fact guilty.

VIOLATION OF PLEA AGREEMENT

27. The Defendant agrees that if the Court finds by a preponderance of the evidence

that the Defendant has violated any provision of this agreement, the United States will be

released from its obligations under the agreement. The Defendant waives any claim that the

Defendant's guilty plea under the rejected agreement bars prosecution of any additional offenses

on double-jeopardy grounds.

28. The Defendant further agrees that in the event the Court finds that Defendant has

breached this plea agreement, thus releasing the United States of its obligations under the

agreement, such events do not constitute a fair and just reason under Rule 1 1(d)(2)(B) for

withdrawing the guilty plea(s) entered pursuant to this agreement.

29. Following the Court's finding of a breach of this agreement by the Defendant,

should the United States choose to pursue any charge that was either dismissed or not filed as a

result of this agreement, the Defendant waives any defense to that charge or charges based on the

lapse of time between the entry of this agreement and the Court's finding of a breach by the

Defendant.

t2
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SPECIAL ASSESSMENT

30. At the time of sentencing, the Defendant will tender to the United States District

Court, District of New Mexico, 333 Lomas Blvd. NW, Suite 270, Albuquerque, New Mexico

87102, a money order or certified check payable to the order of the United States District

Court in the amount of $300 in payment of the special penalty assessment described above.

ENTIRETY OF AGREEMENT

31. This document and any addendaare acomplete statement of the agreement

case and may not be altered unless done so in writing and signed by all parties. This agreement

effective upon signature by the Defendant and an Assistant United States Attorney.

AGREED TO AND SIGNED this 13 day of May ,2025.

RYAN ELLISON
United States Attorney

IS

is

in th

,4fr^*-ru4
R. ELIOT NEAL
Assistant United States Attomey
Albuquerque, New Mexico 87102
(s}s) 224-t426

I have carefully discussed every part of this agreement with my client. Further, I have

fully advised my client of my client's rights, of possible defenses, of the sentencing factors set

forth in 18 U.S.C. $ 3553(a), of the relevant sentencing guidelines provisions, and of the

consequences of entering into this agreement. ln addition, I have explained to my client the
elements to each offense to which she,/he is pleading guilty. To my knowledge, my client's
decision to enter into this agreement is an informed and voluntary one.

7
Peter J. Eicker

13

Attorney for the Defendant
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This agreement has been read to me in a language I understand. I have carefully
discussed every part of this agreement with my attomey. I understand the terms of this
agreement, and I voluntarily agree to those terms. My attomey has advised me of my rights, of
possible defenses, of the sentencing factors set forth in l8 U.S.C. $ 3553(a), of the relevant
sentencing guidelines provisions, and of the consequences of entering into this agreement.

Larry George

14
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